
  
www.region2planning.com/lenawee-county-planning-commission 

 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

MEETING NOTICE 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Grant E. Bauman 
R2PC Principal Planner 
(517) 768-6711 
gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us 

DATE: February 20, 2020 

TIME: 6:30 p.m. 

PLACE: Lenawee Room |Human Services Building 
 1040 S. Winter Street 
 Adrian, Michigan 

MEETING AGENDA 

1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

2. Public Comment [3-MINUTE LIMIT] 

3. Approval of Agenda [ACTION] 

4. Meeting Minutes 

Approval of the Minutes of the December 19, 2019, Meeting [ACTION]  ..........................................  3 

5. Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s) 

(1) #20-01 — Woodstock Township [ACTION]  ....................................................................  5 

b. Consideration of PA 116 Farmland Agreement(s) 

(1) #20-01 — Ogden Township [ACTION]  ..........................................................................  21 

(2) #20-02 — Palmyra Township [ACTION]  .......................................................................  33 

c. Consideration of Master Plan(s) — None 

6. Other Business 

a. Old Business 

Master Plan | Existing Land Use [DISCUSSION]  

b. New Business 

(1) Election of Officers [ACTION]  

(2) 2020 LCPC Annual Dinner [DISCUSSION]  

7. Public Comment [2 MINUTE LIMIT] 

8. Commissioner Comment 

9. Adjournment 

 

The next meeting of the Lenawee County Planning Commission is scheduled for March 19, 2020 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 1 

mailto:gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us


This page is intentionally blank. 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 2 



  
www.region2planning.com/lenawee-county-planning-commission 

 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

MEETING MINUTES 
Thursday, December 19, 2019 

Old Lenawee County Courthouse ● 2nd Floor Committee Room ● Adrian, Michigan 

 Members Present: Mr. Bob Behnke, Education Representative; Ms. Karol (KZ) Bolton, Lenawee 
County Commission; Mr. Keith Dersham, LCPC Secretary; Ms. Rebecca Liedel, 
LCPC Chair; Mr. Bruce Nickel; Mr. Ralph Tillotson, Lenawee County Commis-
sion; and Mr. Dale Witt 

 Members Absent: None 

 Others Present: Mr. Grant Bauman, LCPC Staff/Recording Secretary 

Item 1 Call to order. The meeting was called to order at 6:30 p.m. by Chair Liedel. Those in attend-
ance rose and joined in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item 2 Public comment — None 

Item 3 Approval of Agenda. Staff submitted the 12/19/19 meeting agenda for approval. 

A motion was made by Comm. Nickel, and seconded by Comm. Witt, to approve the December 
19, 2019, meeting agenda as presented. The motion passed unanimously. 

Item 4 Approval of Minutes. Staff submitted the 10/17/19 meeting minutes for approval. 

A motion was made by Comm. Dersham, and seconded by Comm. Witt, to approve the Octo-
ber 17, 2019, meeting minutes as presented. The motion passed unanimously. 

Item 5 Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s) 

(1) #19-14 | Rollin Township. Commissioners reviewed the proposed rezoning to 
‘lake residential (LR)’ of a property (ID# RL0-103-1475-00) near Horton Beach Road in 
Section 3 (T6S-R1E) of the Township. Staff summarized his report advising Commis-
sioners to recommend approval of the proposed rezoning (see the staff report). 
Comm. Dersham was concerned about access. He asked who will be responsible for 
Horton Court. Comm. Tillotson was concerned about a similar situation on Loch Erin 
where there is a proposal to hook up a garage to the sewer serving a neighboring 
house so that it can be used as living space. 

A motion was made by Comm. Bolton, and seconded by Comm. Nickel, to recom-
mend approval with comments of the proposed rezoning to the Rollin Township 
Board (see the staff report and these minutes). The motion passed unanimously. 

b. Consideration of PA 116 Farmland Agreement(s) 

(1) #19-44 | Palmyra Township. Commissioners reviewed a proposed agreement for 
properties (ID #PA0-128-4750-00 and #PA0-128-4875-00) in Section 28 (T7S-R4E) of 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 3 



 
Lenawee County Planning Commission 
December 19, 2019, Meeting Minutes Page 2  
 

the township. Staff summarized his report advising Commissioners to recommend 
approval with comments of the agreement provided that the applicant considers the 
comments/suggestions listed in the staff report. 

A motion was made by Comm. Bolton, and seconded by Comm. Dersham, to concur 
with the staff advisement to recommend approval with comments of the PA 116 
agreement to the Palmyra Township Board (see the staff report). The motion passed 
unanimously. 

c. Consideration of Master Plan(s) — None 

Item 6 Other Business 

a. Old Business 

Master Plan.  Staff provided the following information to the Planning Commission re-
garding the update of the countywide master plan: 

 Existing Land Use Survey.  Staff was able to obtain parcel layer data (and associ-
ated assessment data) from the City of Adrian. Unfortunately, the price for obtaining 
the information for the City of Tecumseh was cost prohibitive. The updated “Prop-
erty Assessment: Development – Level of Intensity” map was included in the agenda 
packet. 

 Cost to Update.  Staff estimated that the cost for updating the countywide master 
plan was approximately $20,000. Unfortunately, that goes beyond the Planning Com-
mission’s budget. Comm. Tillotson stated that the County should not have to set 
aside additional funding for the master plan, citing the 27₵ per capita already paid by 
the County of Lenawee and all of the municipalities in the county which maintain 
memberships in the R2PC. 

b. New Business 

(1) 2019 LCPC Annual Report. Staff presented the annual report which summarized 
the accomplishments of the Planning Commission in 2019.  

A motion was made by Comm. Bolton, and seconded by Comm. Behnke, to approve 
the transmittal of the report to the county board. The motion passed unanimously. 

Item 7 Public Comment — None 

Item 8 Commissioner Comment — Comm. Bolton announced that Comm. Dersham was reap-
pointed to the Planning Commission by the County Board and that Commission meetings will 
be held in the Public Defenders Building during the renovation of the Old County Courthouse. 

Item 9 Adjournment. The meeting was adjourned at 7:32 pm. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Grant E. Bauman, Recording Secretary 
 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 4 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #20-01 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: February 18, 2020 

 Proposal: The rezoning of a property in Woodstock Township 

Request 

The subject property is proposed for rezoning to ‘local commercial (C-1)’ from ‘agricultural (AG)’. 

Purpose 

The purpose of the rezoning request is to allow for “retail food sales” (see the ‘Zoning Amendment 
Form’ and other ‘Background Information’).1 

Location and Size of the Property 

Location – The subject property (WD0-119-2270-00) is located in Section 19 (T5S-R1E) of Woodstock 

Township and fronts both US-127 and Briggs Highway (see Figure 1). 

Size – The subject parcel has an area of approximately 10 acres (see the ‘Zoning Amendment Form’ and 

‘Rezoning Worksheet Form’). 

Land Use and Zoning 

Current Land Use – The current use of the subject property is ‘agricultural’ according to property as-

sessment records (see Figure 2). 

Future Land Use – Woodstock Township’s future land use map recommends ‘commercial’ uses along 

US-127 in the general area (see Figure 3) but that recommendation does not extend to Briggs Highway. 

Current Zoning – The subject parcel is currently zoned ‘agricultural (AG)’ (see Figure 4). 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 

Public Road/Street Access – Briggs Highway, a county local roadway, borders the subject property 

to the east and US-127, a state highway, borders it to the west. 

Public Water and Sewer – Neither public water or sanitary sewer service is available to the subject 

parcel. Nor does the Township plan to provide them. 

 

                                                 
1 Please note that the proposed use is listed for informational purposes only. It should not be utilized in making the rezoning 
decision. Circumstances may change, making the proposed use impractical. All of the uses allowed under the proposed zoning 
are pertinent. 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 5 



Page 2 CZ #20-01 
 

Environmental Constraints – There are no known environmental constraints according to the 

Township (see the ‘Rezoning Worksheet Form’). 

Analysis and Recommendation 

Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Woodstock Township Planning 

Commission recommends approval of the proposed rezoning (see the background information). 

LCPC Staff Analysis – Sec. 22.3.3.D of the Woodstock Township Zoning Ordinance establishes the 

following amendment ‘review considerations’: 

1. Will the proposed amendment be in accordance with the basic intent and purpose of the zon-
ing ordinance? 

Consideration of the proposed rezoning meets the intent and purpose of the ordinance. 

2. Is the proposed amendment consistent with the comprehensive plan of the township? 

The Township’s future land use map, a common master plan element, recommends ‘commer-
cial’ uses along the east side of US-127 between US-223 and just north of Briggs Highway. How-
ever, that recommendation does not extend eastward all the way to Briggs Highway. 

LCPC staff questions if the master plan went through the approval process mandated by Article 
III of the Michigan Planning Enabling Act (PA 33 of 2018, MCL 125.3831 et seq.) The December 
17, 2019, meeting minutes of the Township’s planning commission states that the master plan 
was updated in October/November of 2019, but the new master plan was not forwarded to the 
LCPC for its review and recommendation as required by the MPEA. 

3. Have conditions changed since the zoning ordinance was adopted, or was there a mistake in 
the zoning ordinance that justifies the amendment? 

Ferris & Sons Milk Hauling, Inc., located further to the south, is assessed ‘commercial’. Mechani-
cal Extremes Heating & Cooling, LLC, located directly to the north, is assessed ‘residential’. 

4. Will the amendment correct an inequitable situation created by the zoning ordinance, rather 
than merely grant special privileges? 

Given the other commercial uses already located along this portion of the US-127 corridor, no 
special privileges would be granted by the proposed amendment. 

5. Will the amendment result in unlawful exclusionary zoning? 

The proposed rezoning should not result in any exclusion. 

6. Will the amendment set an inappropriate precedent, resulting in the need to correct future 
planning mistakes? 

The rezoning request generally conforms to the new future land use map and other commercial 
uses are already located along this segment of the US-127 corridor. 

7. If a rezoning is requested, is the proposed zoning consistent with the existing land uses of sur-
rounding property? 

Other commercial uses are already located along this portion of the US-127 corridor. 

  

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 6 



Page 3 CZ #20-01 
 

8. If a rezoning is requested, could all requirements in the proposed zoning classification be com-
plied with on the subject parcel? 

It appears that this consideration is met. However, LCPC staff does not have access to the Zoning 
Plan (often an element of the master plan). 

9. If a rezoning is requested, is the proposed zoning consistent with the trends in land develop-
ment in the general vicinity of the property in question? 

Other commercial uses are already located along this portion of the US-127 corridor and the 
new future land use map recognizes them. 

10. If a rezoning is requested, what is the impact on the township infrastructure? The planning 
commission and the township board shall make a determination of whether public facilities 
are readily available and whether the potential impact of the rezoning would adversely impact 
the level of service standards of any public facility. 

US-127 should be able to handle the additional commercial traffic generated by the new use. 
However, Briggs Highway is only a county local roadway. 

LCPC Staff Analysis – Rezoning the western half (+/-) of the subject property makes sense given the 
recently updated future land use map. However, given that Briggs Highway is only a county local road 
and that eastern half (+/-) of the parcel is located in an area recommended for ‘open’ space, staff does 
not think that the entire property should be rezoned. Staff is also concerned about the legal status of 
the new master plan as it does not appear the approval process mandated by Article III of the Michigan 
Planning Enabling Act (PA 33 of 2018, MCL 125.3831 et seq.) was followed. 

CZC Staff Recommendation – Based upon this analysis, staff ad-
vises the Lenawee County Planning Commission to recommend DIS-
SAPPROVAL of the proposed rezoning of the entire parcel to ‘local 
commercial (C-1)’ to the Rollin Township Board. Staff further advises 
the LCPC to recommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the pro-
posed rezoning of the western half (+/-) of the parcel to ‘local com-
mercial (C-1)’ (see the staff report). 

Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by Woodstock Township. 

  

Recommended Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL WITH 

COMMENTS/MODIFICATIONS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 7 



Page 4 CZ #20-01 
 

Figure 1 
Location 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Figure 2 
Property Assessment 

 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 8 



Page 5 CZ #20-01 
 

Figure 3 
Municipal Future Land Use 

 

Figure 4 
Municipal Zoning 

 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 9 



Page 6 CZ #20-01 
 

Figure 5a 
USDA Aerial Photograph 

 

Figures 5b 
Google Aerial Photograph 

 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 10 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 11 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 12 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 13 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 14 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 15 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 16 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 17 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 18 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 19 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 20 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #20-01 

 Applicant(s): Porter Trust 
8435 Horton Road 
Blissfield, MI 49228 

 Date: February 18, 2020 

 Local Government: Lenawee County (Ogden Township) 

 Purpose: Enrollment application 

 Location: The subject property (ID #OG0-101-3800-00) is located in Section 1 of the Town-
ship (T8S, R4E) and fronts on Horton Road (see Figure 1). 

 Description: The subject property has an area of almost 18 acres, with 17 acres cultivated for 
cash crops. The average gross annual income for the property is $250/acre, 
more than the $200/acre minimum required by MDARD. There are no struc-
tures (see Figure 3). 

 Term: 50 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the subject proper-
ties in an area recommended for ‘Intensive Agricultural’ uses (see Figure 2). 

 Staff Comments: The application contains various errors/omissions which need to be addressed: 

 An ‘official tax statement’ was provided for ID #OG0-101-3800-00 and what 
appears to be two copies of the same deed were provided, but with differ-
ent Liber/Page numbers, potentially causing some confusion. 

 An ‘affidavit attesting that qualified agricultural property or qualified forest 
shall remain qualified agricultural property’ was submitted for ID #OG0-111-
2280-00 and ID #OG0-101-3505-00, but not ID #OG0-101-3800-00. 

 The property has an area of approximately 35 acres while the application is 
limited to approximately 18 acres. Is only a portion of ID #OG0-101-3800-00 
proposed for the preservation? 

These discrepancies with the application should be resolved. 

Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commis-
sion to recommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the PA 116 application to 
the Lenawee County Board of Commissioners, provided that the applicant con-
siders the comments/ suggestions listed in the staff report. 

Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by the applicant/township. 

  

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 21 



Page 2 FA | #20-01 
 

Figure 1 
Location 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2 
County Future Land Use 

 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 22 



Page 3 FA | #20-01 
 

Figure 3a 
USDA Aerial Photograph 

 

Figure 3b 
USDA Aerial Photograph 

 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 23 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 24 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 25 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 26 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 27 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 28 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 29 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 30 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 31 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 32 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #20-02 

 Applicant(s): Blissfield Sunshine Farms, LLC 
9700 Sylvania Avenue 
Sylvania, OH 43560 

 Date: February 18, 2020 

 Local Government: Palmyra Township 

 Purpose: Enrollment application 

 Location: The subject properties (ID #PA0-125-4190-00, PA0-125-4550-00, and PA0-125-
4700-00) are located in Section 25 of the Township (T7S, R4E), south of US-223 
(see Figure 1). 

 Description: The subject properties have an area of approximately 61.5 acres, with 60.5 acres 
cultivated for cash crops. 

 Term: 10 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the subject proper-
ties at the edge on an area recommended for ‘Intensive Agricultural’ uses (see 
Figure 2). 

 Staff Comments: Staff found no errors/omissions in the application. 

Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commis-
sion to recommend APPROVAL of the PA 116 application to the Palmyra Town-
ship Board. 

Attachment(s): 

 Background information provided by the applicant/county. 

  

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 33 



Page 2 FA | #20-02 
 

Figure 1 
Location 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2 
County Future Land Use 

 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 34 



Page 3 FA | #20-02 
 

Figure 3a 
USDA Aerial Photograph 

 

Figure 3b 
USDA Aerial Photograph 

 

2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 35 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 36 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 37 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 38 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 39 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 40 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 41 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 42 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 43 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 44 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 45 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 46 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 47 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 48 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 49 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 50 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 51 



2/20/20 LCPC Agenda Packet 52 


